Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-3-2017

Western Community Insurance Company v. Burks Tractor Company, Inc. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44372

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

A. NATURE OF THE CASE.

This case arises from the fire loss of a 2012 Krone X 1100 Forage Chopper ("Krone Chopper") manufactured by Respondent Krone NA, Inc, ("Krone") and purchased by DNJ from Respondent Burks Tractor Company, Inc. ("Burks"). On October 15, 2012, approximately five weeks after the Krone Chopper was purchased by DNJ, a fire ignited in the engine compartment of the Chopper. R. Vol. I., p. 21. This fire then spread to the fuel tanks of the Krone Chopper resulting in its complete loss and destruction. *Id.* Appellant Western Community provided insurance coverage to DNJ for the loss of the Krone Chopper in the amount of \$440,779.00 and was subrogated to the rights of DNJ for the loss. *Id.*, pp. 22-25.

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS.

Appellants' Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial ("Complaint") was filed on July 22, 2014. R. Vol. I., pp. 18-26. In their Complaint, Appellants alleged four causes of action: 1) A claim for Breach of Express Warranties based on breach of the Manufacturer's and Extended Warranties against Krone; 2) A claim for the Breach of the Obligation of Good Faith based on breach of the Manufacturer's and Extended Warranties against Krone; 3) A claim for violation of the Idaho Consumer Protection Act ("ICPA") pursuant to Idaho Code § 48-603(5) against Krone and Burks, and; 4) A claim for violation of the ICPA pursuant to Idaho Code §48-603(7) against Krone and Burks. *Id.* pp. 21-25.

On October 4, 2014, Krone filed a Motion to Dismiss pursuant to I.R.C.P. 12(b)(6) asserting that Appellants' ICPA claims against Krone should be dismissed for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. R. Vol. I., p. 3. On October 22, 2014, Burks filed its

Answer to Complaint and Crossclaim for Indemnity against Krone. R. Vol. I., pp.27-36. On October 27, 2014, Burks filed its Motion to Dismiss pursuant to I.R.C.P. 12(b)(6) asserting that Appellants' claims for violation of the ICPA against Burks should be dismissed for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. R. Vol. I., p. 3.

The district court issued its Memorandum and Order Re: Motions to Dismiss ("Memorandum Order") on December 18, 2014. R. Vol. I., pp. 4, 58-59. In its Memorandum Order, the district court dismissed Appellants' ICPA claims against both Krone and Burks on the grounds that "a subrogee may not sue under the ICPA absent an express agreement, transferring the insured's statutory rights under the ICPA to the subrogee." *Id.*, p. 58.

Appellants filed their Motion to Amend the Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial ("Motion to Amend") and supporting Memorandum on January 21, 2015 seeking to file their First Amended Complaint ("FAC") amending the allegations to more specifically support Western Community's right as subrogee of DNJ to assert DNJ's claims under the ICPA. R. Vol. I., pp. 5, 52. In response to Appellants' Motion to Amend, the district court issued its Memorandum and Order Re: Motion to Amend the Complaint on May 5, 2015 denying Western Community's Motion to Amend seeking to assert DNJ's ICPA claims. R. Vol. I., pp. 51-62.

Appellants' Third Amended Complaint ("TAC") was filed on December 17, 2015. R. Vol. I., pp. 9, 115-135. Neither Krone or Burks filed an Answer to the TAC within the ten (10) day time limitation contained in I.R.C.P. 15(a). On March 24, 2016, the district court held hearing on Respondents' Motions in Limine. Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 5-75. At this hearing, Respondents represented to the Appellants and the district court that they had just discovered that Krone was the owner of the Krone Chopper at the time it was sold to DNJ, not Burks. Tr. Vol. 1, p 12, L. 15-p. 13. L. 3; p. 18,

LL. 5-25. Krone, of course, had the documents relating to the two machines in its corporate possession at all times. Based on this representation, Burks sought "clarification" from the district court regarding whether it should be dismissed from the law suit asserting that this newly discovered evidence showed that Krone and not Burks was the party that was actually in privity of contract with Appellant DNJ under the terms of the Warranties. Tr. Vol. 1, p 19, LL. 11-24. The district court denied Burks' request for "clarification," described by the district court as a "verbal motion essentially for summary judgment," at the conclusion of the March 24, 2016 hearing. Tr. Vol. 1, p 70, LL. 14-19.

On March 29, 2016, Burks filed it Answer to the TAC. R. Vol. I., pp. 136-148. In its Answer, Burks asserted several new affirmative defenses alleging that it was not in privity of contract with DNJ on the basis of the newly discovered evidence that Krone was the owner of the Chopper at the time its sale to DNJ. R. Vol. I., p. 141. In response to Burks' March 29, 2016 Answer, Appellants filed a Motion Strike Burks' Answers and Affirmative Defenses asserting, *inter alia*, that Burks had waived its right to assert these new affirmative defenses by failing to file an Answer within ten days of the filing and service of the TAC. R. Vol. I., p. 13. The district court denied Appellants' Motion to Strike Burks' Answers and Affirmative Defenses on April 5, 2016, the first day of trial. Tr. Vol. 1, p. 82, L. 10-p.92, L. 25.

After Appellants rested their case in chief on April 7, 2016, the district court granted Burks' Motion for Directed Verdict on the grounds that Burks was not in privity of contract with DNJ under the terms of the New Equipment or Extended Warranties. Tr. Vol. 1, p. 779, L. 7-p. 802, L. 8. On April 8, 2016, the district court denied Appellants' request for an agency jury instruction charging and instructing the jurors that Krone was responsible for Burks' actions while

it was acting as Krone's agent in extending the protections of the New Equipment and Limited Warranties to DNJ. Tr. Vol. 1, p. 817. LL. 4-25; p. 982, L. 18-p. 987, L. 3; p. 988, L.5-p. 989, L. 18. The jury then found against Appellants on each of their claims under the New Equipment and Extended Warranties. Tr. Vol. 1, p. 1094. LL. 10-p. 1099, L. 2.

Appellants filed their Motion for Reconsideration and for New Trial on May 2, 2016. R. Vol. I., p. 15. On June 24, 2016, the district court issued its Memorandum Decision Re: Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration and for New Trial denying Appellants' Motion for New Trial. R. Vol. I., pp. 177-195.

C. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS.

DNJ purchased the Krone Chopper from Burks on September 12, 2012. At the time of the purchase from Burks, the Krone Chopper was covered by Krone Manufacturer's Warranty identified as the New Equipment Limited Warranty ("New Equipment Warranty"). At the time of its purchase of the Krone Chopper, DNJ also purchased an "Extended Warranty" from Burks, specifically identified as the "Krone North American Crown Guarantee" for the additional sum of \$20,447.00. After the Krone Chopper was destroyed by fire on October 15, 2012, Respondents Burks and Krone refused to allow DNJ to submit a claim under either the New Equipment Warranty or the Extended Warranty. Based on Respondents' failure to accept submission of DNJ's claims under these Warranties, Appellant Western Community provided insurance coverage to DNJ for the loss of the Krone Chopper in the amount of \$440,779.00.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

A. Whether the District Court Erred in Not Allowing Western Community to Allege Causes of Action Arising from Respondents' Violations of the Idaho Consumer Protection Act in the Proposed First Amended Complaint.

- B. Whether the District Court Erred in Denying Appellants' Motion for New Trial.
- C. Whether Appellant's are entitled to an award of costs and reasonable attorney fees on Appeal Pursuant to I.C. § 12-120(3) and I.R.A 35 (a)(5), (b)(5), 40 and 41.

III. ARGUMENT

A. The District Court Erred in Not Allowing Western Community to Allege Causes of Action Arising from Respondents' Violations of the Idaho Consumer Protection Act in the Proposed First Amended Complaint.

Appellants filed their Motion to Amend the Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial and supporting Memorandum on January 21, 2015 seeking to file their First Amended Complaint ("FAC") amending the allegations to more specifically support Western Community's right to bring claims under the ICPA as the subrogee of DNJ. R. Vol. I., pp. 5, 52. As alleged in proposed FAC, Western Community was the Subrogee of DNJ's right to recover for the loss of the Krone Chopper against Krone under the subrogation provision of its insurance policy with DNJ:

Insurance Policy No. 08-829801-01 was in effect from May 9, 2012 to May 8, 2013 and constituted an express contractual agreement between Plaintiff Western Community and Plaintiff DNJ. Under the contractual provisions and terms of Insurance Policy No. 08-829801-01, Plaintiff DNJ has been compensated in the amount of \$440,779.00 for its October 15, 2012 loss of the Krone Chopper by Plaintiff Western Community. Pursuant to the following terms of Insurance Policy No. 08-829801-01, Plaintiff Western Community is the Subrogee of DNJ's rights to recover for this loss against Defendants:

COMMERCIAL INLAND MARINE CONDITIONS: Provision J-Transfer of Rights of Recovery Against Others to Us. If any person or organization to or for whom we make payment under this coverage part has rights to recover damages from another, those rights are transferred to us to the extent of our payment.

R. Vol. I., pp.58-59.

In its Memorandum and Order Re: Motion to Amend the Complaint, the district court relied upon the cases of *Black Canyon Racquet ball Club, Inc. v. Idaho First National Bank, N.A.*,

119 Idaho 171, 175, 804 P.2d 900, 904 (1991) and *Halvorson v. N. Latah County Highway Dist.*, 151 Idaho 196, 208 254 P.3d 497. 509 (2011) and refused to allow Appellants to amend the complaint to include the ICPA claims on the grounds that the amended ICPA claims were not valid claims. R. Vol. I., pp. 53, 58-59. Specifically, the district court found:

Claims III and IV of the original complaint alleged ICPA violations against both Burks and Krone. This court dismissed those claims on 12/18/14, holding that "a subrogee may not sue under the ICPA absent an express agreement, transferring the insured's statutory rights under the ICPA to the subrogee." *Memorandum and Order Re Motions to Dismiss*, December 18, 2014, p.11.

• • • •

The court's holding, quoted above, was that absent an express agreement whereby the insured transferred his or her statutory right to bring an ICPA claim to the insurer, subrogation will not apply. This requires more than a boilerplate subrogation clause. It requires the express transfer or assignment of statutory ICPA rights from the insured to the insurer. Such an agreement is not before the court. Western has added the following language to its proposed First Amended Complaint: This is exactly the type of generic boilerplate subrogation clause that the Washington Court of Appeals found insufficient in *Trinity Universal Ins. Co. of Kansas v. Ohio Ins. Co.*, 176 Wash.App. 185, 312 P.3d 976 (Wash. Ct. App. 2013). Nowhere does it purport to assign DNJ's statutory right to sue for violations of the ICPA to Western. Therefore, because the court finds that this agreement remains insufficient to grant Western, as DNJ's subrogee, the right to sue the defendants under the ICPA, Western's ICPA claims may not be re-pled in the First Amended Complaint.) (R. p, 58-59)

R. Vol. I., pp. 58-59.

Appellant submits that the district court erred in relying upon the holding of *Trinity Universal Ins. Co. of Kansas v. Ohio Ins. Co.*, 312 P.3d 976 (Wash.App. Div. 1 2013) for its finding that that Appellants' ICPA allegations failed to state valid claims because Idaho law requires express insurance policy language specifically transferring a subrogor's statutory causes of action under the ICPA to the insurance company subrogee. This finding is not supported by the specific statutory language of the ICPA or Idaho case law governing the transfer

of rights under the doctrine of subrogation.

The *Trinity Universal Ins. Co. of Kansas* case relied upon by the district court arose from an insurance subrogation claim between two insurance companies after settlement of an underlying personal injury claim. *Id.*, 312 P.3d at 980. In the *Trinity Universal Ins. Co. of Kansas case*, the Trinity Universal Insurance Company of Kansas ("Trinity") had settled a personal injury claim involving Ohio Casualty Insurance Company's ("Ohio Casualty") insured, Millenium Building Company Inc. ("Millenium"). *Id.*, 312 P.3d at 980-981.

In *Trinity Universal Ins. Co. of Kansas*, Ohio Casualty asserted that Trinity lacked standing to bring statutory claims under the Washington Consumer Protection Act ("CPA"). *Id.*, 312 P.3d at 984. The basis of the Washington Appellate Court's decision that Trinity did not have standing to pursue its CPA claims against Ohio Casualty was that Trinity had made payments on behalf of its insured only for the insured's liability under its liability coverage and not for the bad faith claims asserted by Trinity against Ohio Casualty under the CPA. *Id.*, 312 P.3d at 986-987. In the absence of actual payments to the insured for the bad faith claims asserted, Trinity had sustained no losses to recover for its CPA claims under either conventional (contractual) or equitable subrogation. As stated by the Washington Appellate Court in the *Trinity Universal Ins. Co. of Kansas case*, Trinity had already obtained a judgment and payment from Ohio Casualty for the losses it had paid on behalf of its insured and had no right to collect additional payments from Ohio Casualty based its CPA claims for bad faith. *Id.*, 312 P.3d at 986-987

The *Trinity Universal Ins. Co. of Kansas* case was decided under Washington law and is both legally and factually inapposite to the case at bar. In this case, Western Community's proposed claims under the ICPA were pled as alternative theories of recovery of the \$440,779.00

Western Community had actually paid to DNJ for the loss of the Krone Chopper after Respondents refused to accept DNJ's warranty claims. R. Vol. I., pp.18-26. This amount represented the actual loss paid to DNJ by Western Community under the language of the subrogation provision providing that "if any person or organization to or for whom we make payment under this coverage part has rights to recover damages from another, those rights are transferred to us to the extent of our payment." R. Vol. I., pp.18-26, 58-59.

Idaho Code §48-602(1) provides:

"Person" means natural persons, corporations both foreign and domestic, trusts, partnerships both limited and general, incorporated or unincorporated associations, companies, trusts, business entities, and any other legal entity, or any other group associated in fact although not a legal entity or any agent, assignee, heir, employee, representative or servant thereof.

Under I.C. §48-602(1) the definition of "Person" in the ICPA includes corporations, companies, business entities and any other legal entities. Clearly, DNJ as an Idaho corporation had the right to bring a cause of action under I.C. §48-608(1) for violations of Idaho Code §§ 48-603(5) and (7). The standard of review for this Court regarding statutory interpretation is one of free review. The standard of review in a case of statutory interpretation is free review. *Hoffman v. The Board of Local Improvement Dist. No. 1101*, __ Idaho __, _ P.3d __, 2016 Opinion No. 153 (December 21, 2016) citing *KGF Dev., LLC v. City of Ketchum*, 149 Idaho 524, 527, 236 P.3d 1284, 1287 (2010)("We exercise free review over matters of statutory interpretation."). "When construing a statute, the words used must be given their plain, usual, and ordinary meaning, and the statute must be construed as a whole." *Athay v. Stacey*, 142 Idaho 360, 365, 128 P.3d 897, 902 (2005), cited in *Jones v. Crawforth*, 147 Idaho 1, 15, 205 P.3d 660, 664 (2009).

Western Community's proposed claims under the ICPA were pled as alternative theories

of recovery to the warranty claims seeking recovery of the actual loss paid to DNJ under the language of the subrogation provision. Based on the subrogation provision of its insurance policy with DNJ, Western Community occupied the same legal position as DNJ under the Idaho common law governing contractual subrogation and, therefore, had the same rights to recover against Krone and Burks as did DNJ. *May Trucking Co. v. International Harvester Co.*, 97 Idaho 319, 543 P.2d 1159 (1975); *Chenery v. Agri-Lines Corp.*, 115, Idaho 281, 766 P.2d 751 (1988); *Hoopes v. Hoopes*, 124 Idaho 518, 861 P.2d 88 (Idaho App. 1993). Under Idaho law, the doctrine of subrogation encompasses the complete substitution of the subrogor's rights in the subrogee. *International Equipment Service, Inc. v. Pocatello Industrial Park Company*, 107 Idaho 1116, 1119 695 P. 2d 1255, 1258 (1985). "Subrogation, in its broadest sense, is the substitution of one person for another, so that he may succeed to the rights of the creditor in relation to the debt or claim and its rights, remedies and securities." *Id. citing Houghtelin v. Diehl*, 47 Idaho 636, 639, 277 P. 699, 700 (1929).

As pled, the proposed allegations of the FAC identifying the language of the subrogation provision of the insurance agreement between DNJ and Western Community was unambiguous and was clearly broad enough to transfer DNJ's right to pursue ICPA claims against Respondents to Western Community. As the transferee and subrogee of DNJ, Western Community had the same rights to recover against Defendant under Idaho statutory and common law as did DNJ. These subrogation rights included DNJ's right to bring claims against Respondents under the ICPA for the recovery of those payments actually made to DNJ. The district court's reliance on the *Trinity Universal Ins. Co. of Kansas* case to find that that Appellants' ICPA allegations failed to state a valid claim because Idaho law requires express policy language specifically transferring

a subrogor's statutory causes of action under the ICPA to its subrogee was error and should be reversed here on appeal. This case should be remanded for new trial so that Appellants can have the opportunity to present these ICPA claims to a jury.

B. The District Court Erred in Denying Appellants' Motion New Trial.

Appellants filed their Motion for Reconsideration and for New Trial on May 2, 2016. R. Vol. I., p. 15. On June 24, 2016, the district court issued its Memorandum Decision Re: Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration and for New Trial denying Appellants' Motion for New Trial. R. Vol. I., pp. 177-195. A Motion for New Trial is governed by Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 15(a) which provides in relevant part:

A new trial may be granted to all or any of the parties and on all or part of the issues in an action for any of the following reasons:

- 1. Irregularity in the proceedings of the court, jury or adverse party or any order of the court or abuse of discretion by which either party was prevented from having a fair trial.
- 6. Insufficiency of the evidence to justify the verdict or other decision, or that it is against the law.
- 7. Error in law, occurring at the trial.

When considering an appeal from a trial court's ruling on a motion for new trial, this Court applies the abuse of discretion standard. *Bott v. Idaho State Bldg. Auth.*, 122 Idaho 471, 475, 835 P.2d 1282, 1286 (1992).

As alleged in the Complaint filed on July 22, 2014, DNJ purchased the Krone Chopper from Burks on September 12, 2012. R. Vol. I., p. 19, ¶ 8. At the time of the purchase from Burks, Appellants alleged that the Krone Chopper was covered by the New Equipment Warranty. *Id.* p, 20, ¶ XII. In addition, Appellants alleged that DNJ purchased the Extended Warranty for the

additional sum of \$20,447.00. *Id.*, ¶ XIII. The allegation that Burks was the owner of the Krone Chopper at the time of the sale was not disputed by Respondents between July 22, 2014 and March 24, 2016.

1. The District Court Erred in Allowing Respondents to Assert New Factual and Legal Defenses Regarding Privity Just Prior to Trial and in Then Dismissing Burks on Directed Verdict.

Appellants' TAC was served on Defendants on December 15, 2015 and filed with the Court on December 17, 2015. R. Vol. I., pp. 115-135. Facts alleging privity of contract between DNJ and Krone as well as Burks' role as Krone's authorized seller/distributor under both the New Equipment and the Extended Warranties were clearly alleged in the TAC:

IX.

At the time of its purchase of the Krone Chopper from Krone NA, Krone NA as the manufacturer/owner of the Krone Chopper and Burks as Krone NA's authorized seller/distributor, warranted to DNJ that the Krone Chopper was free from defects in material and workmanship under the terms of a New Equipment Limited Warranty ("Krone NA New Equipment Warranty"). Exhibit 2.

X.

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