Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-3-2017

Western Community Insurance Company v. Burks Tractor Company, Inc. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44372

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

V. <u>Argument</u>

A. The trial court acted within its discretion to deny Western Community's Motion to Amend its Complaint because the proposed Idaho Consumer Protection Act Claims cannot, as a matter of law, be asserted by a subrogee as if it were the actual purchaser.

The precise issue before this Court is the trial court's denial of Western Community's motion to amend its Complaint—not the trial court's granting of Krone's motion to dismiss. As opposed to a motion to dismiss, "this Court will review a denial of a motion to amend for an abuse of discretion." *Atwood v. Smith*, 143 Idaho 110, 115, 138 P.3d 310, 315 (2006). "If the amended pleading does not set out a valid claim . . . it is not an abuse of discretion for the trial court to deny the motion to file the amended complaint." *Black Canyon Racquetball Club, Inc. v. Idaho First Nat. Bank, N.A.*, 119 Idaho 171, 175, 804 P.2d 900, 904 (1991). Because Western Community cannot, as a matter of law, assert claims under the ICPA, the district court did not abuse its discretion in denying Western Community's motion.

1. As subrogee of DNJ, Western Community is not a "person" within the meaning of the ICPA and therefore cannot bring claims under it.

The ICPA allows claims to be brought by "any person who purchases or leases goods or services and thereby suffers any ascertainable loss of money or property . . . as a result of the use or employment by another person of a method, act or practice declared unlawful by this chapter." I.C. § 48-608. For the purposes of the ICPA, "'person' means natural persons, corporations . . . *although not a legal entity or any agent, assignee, heir, employee, representative or servant thereof.*" I.C. § 48-602(1) (emphasis added).

By allowing ICPA claims from actual purchasers but expressly prohibiting them from "a legal entity" such as (by way of example only, as given in the statute) an assignee, § 48-608 does not allow suits by any entity other than the actual purchaser. Though § 48-602(1) does not make explicit reference to subrogees, they fall within its broad language limiting standing only to the actual purchaser. Here, Western Community as subrogee constitutes "a legal entity" of the actual purchaser and therefore cannot bring suit under the ICPA.

Texas's Deceptive Trade Practices Act (DTPA) presents a useful comparison. It allows consumers to bring claims, but specifically excludes a "business consumer that has assets of \$25 million or more" from the definition of "consumer." Tex. Bus. & Comm. Code § 17.45 (4). In *Trimble v. Itz* (898 S.W.2d, 370 (Tex. App. 1995)), the Texas Court of Appeals specifically rejected the argument that an insurance company with more than \$25 million in assets—and therefore outside the statutory definition—could assume its insured's status as a consumer via subrogation. *Id.* at 372. The court squarely held "the legislature specifically defined which individuals and entities have standing to assert private claims for violations of the DTPA. State Farm does not qualify. The legislature made no exceptions for subrogees." *Id.*

Like the Texas legislature with the DTPA, the Idaho legislature with the ICPA promulgated specific limitations regarding who has standing to bring claims. This specific language of limitation does not (and cannot) give way to general principles of subrogation. Though other states have allowed insurers to subrogate their insureds' consumer protection claims, Idaho has not (neither has Texas, for example); moreover, those other states' statutes do not contain the limiting language found in the ICPA and DTPA. *Compare*, *e.g.*, Mich. Comp.

Laws. Ann. § 445.902 (d) (defining "person" as "a natural person, corporation, limited liability company, trust, partnership, incorporated or unincorporated association, or other legal entity"),² Va. Code Ann. § 59.1-198 (defining "person" as "any natural person, corporation, trust, partnership, association and any other legal entity"),³ Conn. Gen. Stat. Ann. § 42-110a(3) (defining "person" as "a natural person, corporation, limited liability company, trust, partnership, incorporated association, and any other legal entity"),⁴ Mass. Gen. Laws Ann. ch. 93A, § 1(a) (defining "person" as "natural persons, corporations, trusts, partnerships, incorporated or unincorporated associations, and any other legal entity").⁵

2. Like other provisions under Idaho law, the ICPA imposes a limit on an insurer's right of subrogation.

Western Community makes the broad statement that "subrogation encompasses the *complete* substitution of the subrogor's rights in the subrogee." *Appellant's Brief*, p. 9. But as this Court has explained, the doctrine of subrogation does not allow an unlimited transfer of rights; in certain instances the transfer is limited by statutory or decisional law. The ICPA's definition of "person" constitutes such a limitation.

First, in Stonewall Surplus Lines Insurance Co. v. Farmers Insurance Co. of Idaho (132

Idaho 318, 971 P.2d 1142 (1998)), a third party was not allowed to bring a direct claim against

² Subrogation allowed in Safeco Ins. Co. of Am. v. CPI Plastics Grp., Ltd., 625 F.Supp.2d 508 (E.D. Mich. 2008).

³ Subrogation allowed in Gill v. Rollins Protective Servs. Co., 773 F.2d 592 (4th Cir. 1985).

⁴ Subrogated claim allowed, though standing was not raised, in *Trucker v. American Int'l Grp.*, *Inc.*, 179 F.Supp.3d 224 (D. Conn. 2016).

⁵ Subrogated claim allowed, though standing was not raised, in *Avolizi v. Bradford White Corp.*, 2003 Mass. App. Div. 93 (Dist. Ct. 2003).

an insurer, even though the third party was subrogated to the rights of the insured. In that case a delivery driver (Jerry Oldham) employed by Confluence Pizza, Inc. struck a pedestrian with his vehicle while making a delivery. *Id.* at 1143. The vehicle was owned by Penny MacDonald, the employee's mother. *Id.* Confluence had insurance policies through Progressive Casualty Insurance Company and Stonewall Surplus Lines Insurance Company, while Oldham and MacDonald were insured by Famers Insurance Company of Idaho. After Progressive and Stonewall reached a settlement with the pedestrian and released all parties from liability, Oldham, MacDonald, Progressive, and Stonewall sued Farmers for breach of contract. *Id.*

Though Idaho law prohibits a third party like Progressive and Stonewall from suing an insurance company for breach of contract, Progressive and Stonewall argued that "they may bring a direct action because they stand in the shoes of Penny MacDonald [the first-party insured] by way of equitable subrogation." *Id.* at 1146. This Court disagreed. Even though MacDonald (as a first-party insured in privity of contract with Farmers) would be able to sustain an action against Farmers, the prohibition against direct actions by third parties operated as an exception to general subrogation law, in that Progressive and Stonewall were not able to assume MacDonald's status as a first-party insured. *Id*.

Stonewall demonstrates that subrogation is not an absolute, unqualified transfer of the insured's rights to the insurer. Just as Idaho's prohibition on direct actions against an insurer by a third party prevented Progressive and Stonewall from assuming MacDonald's status as a first-party insured through subrogation, § 48-601's definition of "person" prevents Western Community from assuming DNJ's status as the actual purchaser.

RESPONDENT KRONE NA, INC.'S BRIEF – 7

A second case is also instructive. In *Davis v. Idaho Dept. of Health and Welfare* (130 Idaho 469, 943 P.2d 59 (Idaho Ct. App. 1997)), Davis was injured in an airplane crash and later sued for damages. *Id.* at 60. After the accident, he qualified for Medicaid benefits through the Idaho Department of Health and Welfare (DHW), which made payments on his medical bills. *Id.* Davis eventually obtained a jury verdict for his injuries resulting from the accident, but it was reduced by 35 percent due to his comparative fault. *Id.* After the jury rendered its verdict but before a final judgment was entered, Davis settled with the defendant. *Id.*

DHW argued that exercising its subrogation rights would entitle it to full reimbursement for the amount in paid on Davis's behalf, while Davis argued that DHW's subrogated interest in the settlement should reflect the comparative fault reduction. *Id.* The *Davis* court recognized that "[u]nder general subrogation principles, if DHW had sued the manufacturers directly for reimbursement of Medicaid payments, its recovery would have been reduced by the 35% negligence attributable to Davis." *Id.* at 61. This point is true under the general doctrine of subrogation, because the subrogee is entitled to remedies no greater than those available to the subrogor, thus imputing the subrogor's comparative fault reduction onto the subrogee. But because the applicable statute entitled DHW to "an amount equal to the expenditure for medical assistance benefits paid by the department,"⁶ rather than whatever amount was actually

⁶ At the time, I.C. § 56-209b(3) provided that "[i]n all cases where the department of health and welfare through the medical assistance program has or will be required to pay medical expenses for a recipient and that recipient is entitled to recover any or all such medical expenses from any third party, the department of health and welfare will be *subrogated* to the rights of the recipient to the extent of the amount of medical assistance benefits paid by the department as the result of the occurrence giving rise to the claim against the third party" (emphasis added). The court

recovered by Davis, the court found that the statutory language modified the general principles of subrogation.

The *Davis* court's holding emphasized that "equitable principles cannot supersede the positive enactments of the legislature." *Id.* Thus, the statute at issue operated as an exception to the general rules of subrogation. Like DHW, Western Community here would ordinarily be entitled to the same rights and claims as DNJ. Nevertheless, § 48-602(1)'s list of exclusions from the definition of "person" is a positive legislative enactment that cannot be superseded through subrogation.

3. Allowing subrogation of ICPA claims would subvert its legislative purpose.

When construing a statute, this Court "is to derive legislative intent." *Robinson v. Bateman-Hall, Inc.*, 139 Idaho 207, 210, 76 P.3d 951, 954 (2003). "Because 'the best guide to legislative intent is the words of the statute itself,' the interpretation of a statute must begin with the literal words of the statute." *State v. Yzaguirre*, 144 Idaho 471, 475, 163 P.3d 1183, 1187 (2007). This Court may also consider the "public policy behind the statute and the statute's legislative history." *Saint Alphonsus Reg'l Med. Ctr. v. Gooding Cty.*, 159 Idaho 84, 87, 356 P.3d 377, 380 (2015).

looked at the next subsection, I.C. § 56-209b(4), which stated that "[i]f a settlement or judgment is received by the recipient without delineating what portion of the settlement or judgment is in payment of medical expenses, it will be presumed that the settlement or judgment applies first to the medical expenses incurred by the recipient *in an amount equal to the expenditure for medical assistance benefits paid by the department* as a result of the occurrence giving rise to the payment or payments to the recipient" (emphasis added).

Section 48-602(1)'s current language came from a 1993 amendment. Before then, the statute defined "person" as "natural persons, corporations, trusts, partnerships, incorporated or unincorporated associations, and any other legal entity or any agent or servant thereof." 1993 Idaho Sess. Laws Ch. 102 (H.B. 109). Among other changes, the amendment limited that definition by inserting the qualifying phrase "although not" at the end and adding the current list of exceptions. *Id*.

Before 1993, the ICPA appears to have allowed claims brought under it to be transferred to others, in that there was no language prohibiting such transfers. By inserting the new language, however, the legislature expressly ended any such transferability. "When the legislature amends a statute it is deemed, absent an express indication to the contrary, to be indicative of changed legislative intent." *Nebeker v. Piper Aircraft Corp.*, 113 Idaho 609, 614, 747 P.2d 18, 23 (1987).⁷

The current form of § 48-602(1) shows a legislative intent that ICPA claims remain with the actual purchaser—and with the actual purchaser alone. In fact, the legislature went to great lengths to include a near-exhaustive list of entities that do not constitute persons entitled to bring ICPA claims: "a legal entity or any agent, assignee, heir, employee, representative or servant" of the actual purchaser. I.C. § 48-602(1). Given this extensive list, there is no room for a subrogee like Western Community to step in and subvert the clear legislative purpose.

⁷ The 1993 amendment contains no express indication to the contrary. The legislature's statement of purpose as to the amendments to § 48-602(1) merely indicates it was meant "to clarify existing definitions, as well as add new definitions." 1993 Idaho Sess. Laws Ch. 102 (H.B. 109).

4. Trinity Universal Ins. Co. of Kansas applies.

The trial court here relied on *Trinity Universal Ins. Co. of Kansas*, 312 P.3d 976 (Wash. App. Div. 1 2013), to hold that in the absence of express language in the insurance policy allowing subrogation of an insured's statutory consumer protection act claims, there was no right to subrogate such claims.⁸

In the most basic sense, Western Community's contention that *Trinity* does not state the law of Idaho is correct: *Trinity* is a decision from the State of Washington; moreover, Idaho courts have never addressed the transferability of ICPA claims via subrogation. But a basic principle from *Trinity* has relevance here. As the court noted there, "Trinity [the co-primary insurer] remains a third party, without standing to assert [the excess insurer's] ... claims against [the other co-primary insurer]." *Trinity*, 176 Wash. App. at 205. Thus, an insurer was not able to subrogate its way into first-party status with respect to bad faith claims. This holding is consistent with this Court's holding in *Stonewall* (discussed above). And the situation is analogous to an insurer (like Western Community here) trying to "subrogate its way" into actual-purchaser status to bring ICPA claims. Nonetheless, in the face of the limiting language of I.C. 48-602(1), a subrogee is prohibited from bringing its subrogor's ICPA claims.

⁸ In so ruling, the trial court left open the possibility that ICPA claims could be subrogated if the proper language were present. Krone submits that, given the limiting language contained in ICPA's definition of "person," claims under it can *never* be subrogated. Nonetheless, an affirmance of the trial court's decision is still appropriate. "Where the final judgment of the district court is entered upon a different theory, it will be upheld on the correct theory." *Lemmon v. Hardy*, 95 Idaho 778, 781, 519 P.2d 1168, 1171 n.3 (1974).

5. Even if ICPA claims may be subrogated, the jury verdict in favor of Krone renders dismissal of those claims harmless error.

Western Community attempted to bring two claims under the ICPA. First, it claimed Krone violated I.C. § 48-603(5) "by representing that the New Equipment and Extended Warranties would provide for the replacement of the damaged parts and the repair and restoration of the Krone Chopper to its pre-loss condition when [Krone] knew, or in the exercise of due care, should have known [it] would not." R. Vol. 1, p. 23 ¶ XXIX. Second, it claimed Krone violated I.C. § 48-603(7) "by representing the Krone Chopper and Warranties were of a particular standard, quality or grade when they were not." R. Vol. 1, p. 25 ¶ XXXV.

Western Community's ICPA claims provide for liability only if Krone represented that the New Equipment or Extended Warranty had "characteristics . . . uses, [or] benefits . . . *that they do not have*" (I.C. § 48-603(5) (emphasis added)) or if Krone represented they "are of a particular standard, quality or grade . . . *if they are of another*." I.C. § 48-603(7) (emphasis added).

Importantly, on the remaining claims tried, the jury declined to find a breach of either the New Equipment Warranty or the Extended Warranty. As a result, any representation that Krone would repair or replace the Krone Chopper under the New Equipment or Extended Warranty *necessarily* (by virtue of the jury's verdict) was not false, misleading, or deceptive—because the conditions precedent to trigger either warranty never occurred. Western Community therefore cannot show that either of the warranties possessed characteristics or qualities other than those

they were represented to possess. As such, any posited error arising from the trial court's dismissal of the ICPA claims was harmless.

B. The trial court properly exercised its discretion to deny Appellants' Motion for New Trial.

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